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 On November 2, 2018, Randall Ehrlich (“Complainant”) filed a complaint with the 

Postal Regulatory Commission (“Commission”).1  The Complaint seeks restoration of 

mail service to Complainant’s front door mailbox, severe discipline of three Postal 

Service employees, and damages, fees, and costs.  Complainant claims the 

Commission has jurisdiction to hear these claims pursuant to 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a) and 

39 U.S.C. § 403(c).  Pursuant to 39 C.F.R. § 3030.12(b),2 the United States Postal 

Service (“Postal Service”) hereby submits this motion to dismiss the Complaint with 

prejudice (“Motion”).  As set forth more fully below, the Commission should dismiss the 

Complaint with prejudice for Complainant’s failure to state a claim upon which relief may 

be granted.  In the alternative, the Commission should refer the Complaint to the rate 

and service inquiry process as the Complaint fails to satisfy any of the criteria in 39 

C.F.R. § 3030.13.  In accordance with 39 C.F.R. § 3007.201, the Postal Service is 

applying for nonpublic treatment of certain materials as set forth in Exhibit B hereto.3 

INTRODUCTION 

At its core, this Complaint is merely an attempt by a single individual to influence 

Postal Service operations at the Ballard Post Office located in Seattle, Washington. The 

Complaint insists that the Postal Service must remove a letter carrier from her 

designated route or entirely from her employment with the Postal Service, and deliver 

mail to a mailbox on the Complainant’s front porch, despite well-documented problems 

with Complainant’s dogs, subsequent mail holds (also referred to as ‘dog holds’) issued 

                                                           
1 Complaint of Randall Ehrlich (“Complaint”), Docket No. C2019-1, (November 2, 2018). 
2 Pursuant to this rule, the Postal Service’s Answer is deferred.  If the Commission denies the Postal 
Service’s motion or postpones disposition, the Postal Service’s Answer would be due within ten (10) days 
of the Commission’s action. 
3 Exhibit B - Application Of The United States Postal Service For Non-Public Treatment Of Materials. 
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pursuant to Postal Service regulations, and reasonable attempts by the Postal Service 

to reach a compromise mailbox arrangement with Complainant.  Such a Complaint 

should not be entertained by the Commission.   

The Complaint arises from a legitimate, warranted suspension of mail service to 

Complainant’s home because of interference by Complainant’s dog(s).  Although the 

Postal Service offered Complainant reasonable avenues to address this issue, 

Complainant unreasonably refused to comply with standard measures designed to 

protect postal workers.  Delivery service to Complainant’s door was suspended because 

Complainant’s dog was aggressively barking while the carrier was present.  Delivery 

service would resume if Complainant simply: (a) moved his mailbox, which is presently 

mounted along Complainant’s driveway fence by approximately six (6) feet, to face the 

street side of the fence; and (b) assured Postal Service officials at the Ballard Post 

Office that his dog(s) will be restrained during delivery hours to ensure the safety of 

postal employees.4  Complainant, however, seeks to restore mail delivery to his door 

without any showing that his mailbox has been moved to the location USPS officials 

specified and the dog interference with mail delivery has been eliminated.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

                                                           
4 Dog attacks and dog bites are a serious threat to letter carriers.  In 2017, 6,244 Postal Service 
employees were victimized by dogs.  Postal Bulletin, PB 22490 (March 29, 2018) at 3, available at:  
https://about.usps.com/postal-bulletin/2018/pb22490/html/cover.htm.  In 2014, 5,767 Postal Service 
employees were victimized by dogs.  Postal Bulletin, PB 22414, (April 30, 2015) at 3; available at: 
http://about.usps.com/postal-bulletin/2015/pb22414/pb22414.pdf.  See also Postal Bulletin, PB 22388, 
(May 1, 2014) at 3; available at: http://about.usps.com/postal-bulletin/2014/pb22388/pdf/pb22388.pdf.  In 
2016 and 2017, Seattle ranked 13th in the U.S. for dog attacks of letter carriers. See 
https://about.usps.com/news/national-releases/2018/pr18 025.htm. 
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The Complaint involves the provision of delivery service by the Postal Service to 

5833 7th Avenue NW, Seattle, Washington 98107.  This physical address receives 

delivery, which requires the city carrier to dismount from the postal vehicle to deliver 

mail to the mail receptacle.  In a “Memo of Understanding Discontinuance of Mail 

Delivery” dated July 20, 2015, and signed by Complainant (the “MOU”), Complainant 

acknowledged he “may be required to relocate [his] mailbox to a place (approved by the 

Postal Service), which allows the Letter Carrier safe access to deliver the mail, without 

interference from any dog(s) under [his] control.”5  In the MOU, Complainant also 

acknowledged that his “failure to control [his] dog(s) and comply with the above 

agreement, may result in discontinuance of delivery service.”6  The Postal Service 

informed Complainant that, as a result of interference by an unrestrained canine, the 

carrier was unable to deliver mail to his address.7  In later communications between 

Complainant and John Bell, Supervisor, Customer Service for the Ballard Post Office, 

Mr. Bell informed Complainant that, for the safety of Postal Service employees,8 

deliveries to his door had been suspended.9   

The Postal Service provided Complainant with a copy of the Postal Service’s 

policy stating that, while carriers make every effort to deliver mail, they are not required 

to deliver mail where dogs or other animals may interfere.10   

                                                           
5 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachment 2. 
6 Id.  
7 Id. 
8 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachment 1.  See also POM 623.3 (“Delivery service may be 
suspended when there is an immediate threat (including, but not limited to, threats due to loose animals) 
to the delivery employee, mail security or postal property.”). 
9 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell. 
10 See Notice 204, Dog Days, Post Offices Brace for Summertime Bites (Notice distributed to customers 
reminding customers to do their part in preventing dog bites to letter carriers), available at:  
http://about.usps.com/notices/not204.pdf; Handbook M-41, City Delivery Carriers Duties and 
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Since Complainant was not initially receiving curbside delivery, the letter carrier 

had to dismount from the postal vehicle to deliver mail to Complainant’s mailbox, which 

was located near Complainant’s front door.  Sometime in 2015, the Postal Service 

discontinued delivery to Complainant’s front door due to the aggressive, threatening 

behavior of a large German Shepherd dog located inside Complainant’s residence.11  

Since that time, Complainant has not installed a curbside mailbox and has refused to 

relocate his mailbox as advised by the Postal Service.12  According to Section 631.23 of 

the Postal Operations Manual (“POM”) (as revised effective Apr. 26, 2018), delivery 

“may be provided to boxes located at or near the door of a business or residential 

delivery point, or through a door slot, only with prior approval from the District Manager, 

and only if the box or mail slot can be efficiently, safely, and conveniently served by the 

carrier.”  Furthermore, according to POM § 623.21, Complainant is “responsible for 

keeping the approach to the mailbox clear to facilitate delivery (see 632.14)”.   In this 

case, the letter carrier regularly assigned to the route where Complainant’s residence is 

located experienced a legitimate safety issue making door deliveries to Complainant’s 

residence because of the dog’s aggressive, threatening behavior.  As Complainant did 

not have a curbside box, and failed to take prompt corrective action by installing a 

curbside box after Postal officials properly notified him to do so, and later refused to 

relocate the mailbox to a location along his driveway fence that was safer for the carrier 

                                                           
Responsibilities, Section 133.5 (which provides that carriers are not required to deliver mail where dogs 
or other animals interfere); Handbook EL-814, Postal Employee’s Guide to Safety, Section IX.D,1 (2013) 
(which provides that carriers are not required to deliver mail when an animal threatens them). 
11 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachment 1. 
12 As a compromise gesture, when Complainant relocated his mailbox to his driveway fence, instead of 
the sidewalk location directed by the Postal Service, the Postal Service stated a fence relocation was 
acceptable if the mailbox was located at the end of the fence.  However, Complainant refused to relocate 
the mailbox to the location directed by the Postal Service for operational reasons that were fully explained 
to Complainant.  Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachments 3-4. 
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(based on line of sight and earlier concern about dog(s) at Complainant’s residence), 

the Postal Service reasonably determined that delivery service could not be reinstated.  

Since receiving and signing off on the MOU, Complainant has not taken the 

requested actions necessary to restore mail delivery to his residence.  While 

Complainant has spoken with a delivery supervisor on many separate occasions, he 

has refused to install a curbside box, or move his mailbox to the operationally required 

location on his fence, and despite the July 2015 MOU, he has not restrained the current 

dog(s) (i.e., German Shepherd) so that it would no longer interfere with the delivery of 

mailpieces. 

ARGUMENT 

I. COMPLAINANT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF MAY BE 
GRANTED OR UPON WHICH THE COMMISSION CAN ISSUE A REMEDY. 

Complainant has failed to allege facts sufficient to support any of his allegations, 

thereby requiring dismissal of this Complaint with prejudice.  The Commission’s rules 

require that a complainant set forth the facts and circumstances that give rise to the 

complaint and clearly identify and explain how the Postal Service’s action or inaction 

violates applicable statutory standards or regulatory requirements.13  These standards 

are similar to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which require that a complainant 

provide a “short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to 

relief.”14  Further, federal courts are increasingly requiring more specific factual 

allegations when determining whether a pleading should be dismissed with prejudice for 

                                                           
13 39 C.F.R. §§ 3030.10(a)(1) and (a)(2). 
14 FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)(2). 



6 
 

failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.15  In Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly16 and Ashcroft v. Iqbal,17 the Supreme Court established that the heightened 

pleading standard requires a pleading to contain more than “‘naked assertions’ devoid 

of ‘further factual enhancement.’”18  Rather, a pleading “must contain sufficient factual 

matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”19  These 

standards serve to ensure that complainants put the opposing parties on sufficient 

notice of the actual claims at issue, and increase the likelihood that complainants have 

factual support for their claims prior to expending the resources of the relevant tribunal 

and opposing parties.  These same interests are served in the context of Commission 

complaints, and the Commission should follow the Supreme Court’s holdings in 

Twombly and Iqbal, as the instant Complaint fails to allege any viable claim and must be 

dismissed with prejudice based on Complainant’s inability to present any issues of 

material fact or law that establish a claim upon which the Commission can grant relief. 

A. The Commission’s Complaint Jurisdiction Is Limited. 

Congress has provided the Commission limited jurisdiction to entertain complaint 

cases against the Postal Service.  Specifically, the Commission’s authority to adjudicate 

complaints, which is set forth in 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a), allows an interested person to 

bring a complaint when “the Postal Service is not operating in conformance with the 

requirements of the provisions of sections 101(d), 401(2), 403(c), 404a, or 601, or 

[chapter 36] (or regulations promulgated under any of those provisions)….”   

                                                           
15 FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). 
16 Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007). 
17 Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009). 
18 Id. at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557). 
19 Id. (citing Twombly at 570). 
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The Commission has consistently held that its jurisdiction is limited to alleged 

violations of sections enumerated in 39 U.S.C. § 3662 or Chapter 36.20  

B. Complainant Fails To Allege Any Factual Assertions Sufficient To 
Support His Allegations Of Discrimination. 

In this instance, Complainant identifies 39 U.S.C. § 403(c)21 and 39 U.S.C.          

§ 3662(a) as the jurisdictional bases for the present Complaint.  However, Complainant 

does not demonstrate in his Complaint how the Postal Service violated 39 U.S.C.          

§ 403(c).22  As in Goodman,23 Complainant invokes “Commission jurisdiction under 

Section 3662(a), but fail[s] to address specific sections listed within section 3662(a) that 

may be violated by the Postal Service’s actions.  In the absence of specific allegations, 

the Commission [must] assess the validity of the Complaint against the statutory 

provisions cited, consider the general allegations and facts presented in the Complaint, 

and consider the Postal Service’s Motion to Dismiss.”24    

As the Commission noted in Goodman, Section 403(c) prohibits “undue or 

unreasonable discrimination among users of the mails” and “undue or unreasonable 

preferences to any such user,” and applies to actions of the Postal Service “[i]n 

providing services and in establishing classifications, rates, and fees under [Title 39].”25  

The Commission has recognized that an essential element of a Section 403(c) claim is 

the demonstration that a claimant “is similarly situated to the other mailer or mailers who 

                                                           
20 Order No. 2585, Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, Docket No. C2016-2 (July 15, 2015), at 8, 21 (citing 
Goodman Motion to Dismiss at 4; citing Order No. 1762 at 10; Order No. 2377 at 6; Order No. 471 at 3). 
21 Complaint at 1. 
22 Id. at 1, 2.   
23 In the matter of James D. Goodman and Rosalyn Goodman, First Amended Complaint of James D. 
Goodman and Rosalyn Goodman Regarding Failure and Refusal to Deliver Mail by the US Postal Service 
to 1600 Entre Colinas Place, Pomona California, Docket No. C2015-2 (April 23, 2015). 
24 Order No. 2585, supra note 19, at 8. 
25 Id. at 11. 
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have been offered more favorable rates or terms and conditions of service.”26  As stated 

by the Commission,  

[i]n order to establish [a] claim of undue discrimination, [a claimant] must 
establish three elements.  First, it must establish that it has been offered 
less favorable rates or terms and conditions than one or more other 
mailers.  Second, it must demonstrate that it is similarly situated to the 
other mailer or mailers who have been offered more favorable rates or 
terms and conditions of service.  Third, it must demonstrate that there is 
no rational or legitimate basis for the Postal Service to deny it the more 
favorable rates or terms and conditions offered to the others.  Id. 
 
Although section 403(c) is an enumerated provision in 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a), 

Complainant has failed to establish that the Postal Service has unduly or unreasonably 

discriminated against him27 by suspending mail delivery service to his residence, given 

the presence of a dog on the premises28 and Complainant’s on-going failure to move 

the mailbox to the postal-approved location for the delivery of mail29 after being notified 

to do so by Postal Service officials.30  This matter is similar to that in the Goodman 

proceeding, which involved disruption of mail delivery to the Goodmans’ home as a 

result of interference by a dog.31 The Commission’s final order resulted in dismissal of 

the Goodmans’ claim on grounds, in part, that the Goodmans had failed to state a claim 

upon which relief could be granted by the Commission under 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a)’s 

enumerated provisions of the Postal Reorganization Act, including, for example, 39 

U.S.C. § 403(c):  “Here, Complainants have not alleged any facts that if proven true 

demonstrate their treatment is discriminatory.  They have not alleged specific facts that 

                                                           
26 Order No. 718, Order on Complaint, Docket No. C2009-1 (April 20, 2011), at 28.  
27 39 U.S.C. § 403(c). 
28 Complaint at 4-5; Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachment 1. 
29 POM § 623.1 
30 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachment 1. 
31 Order No. 2585, supra note 19, at 1. 
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if proven true would demonstrate their dog is not interfering with or harassing the 

carrier.”32  Also similar to the facts behind the Commission’s holding in Goodman, 

Complainant in this present matter has made no showing that other customers with 

aggressive dogs are receiving mail service without reasonable requests from the Postal 

Service to relocate their mailboxes.33  As provided in Order No. 2585, “[t]he Postal 

Service’s provision of restricted delivery service for Complainants is reasonable and 

rationally related to the achievement of economical and efficient mail delivery and the 

preservation of mail carrier safety.”34   

The Postal Service’s response to the presence of Complainant’s dog in this 

present matter -- advising on a proper mailbox relocation and its willingness to 

compromise by allowing relocation of the mailbox to an appropriate area of 

Complainant’s fence35 -- was entirely reasonable and in line with the Commission’s 

decision in Goodman:  “The Postal Service’s response to the reported dog interference 

and/or harassment is reasonably related to the situation presented by the pleadings.”36  

Furthermore, Complainant here, as in Goodman, “offer[s] no response or explanation 

about their dog’s behavior when the carrier approaches the door.”37  Additionally, 

Complainant has not alleged that the Postal Service violated any of the other 39 U.S.C. 

§ 3662(a) enumerated provisions (i.e., §§ 101(d), 401(2), 404a, 601, or chapter 36). 

Even if Complainant had alleged violations of those provisions, the alleged facts 

stated in the Complaint are not relevant to those sections.  Complainant alleges the 

                                                           
32 Order No. 2585, supra note 19, at 12. 
33 Id. at 13; Complaint at 7-11. 
34 Order No. 2585, supra note 19, at 13. 
35 Exhibit A - Declaration of John Bell. 
36 Order No. 2585, supra note 19, at 13 (citing Motion to Dismiss, Exhibit 1 at 2). 
37 Id. 
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Postal Service “stopped mail” service to his residence due to a “dog hold.”38  A “dog 

hold” is a reasonable basis for withdrawal of mail service by the Postal Service.39  In the 

Complaint, Complainant admits the Postal Service communicated this reason to him 

several times in 2015, more specifically on July 20th, August 15th, September 22nd and 

30th, and October 20th, as a basis for suspension of mail delivery service to his 

residence.40  As the Postal Service has not unduly or unreasonably discriminated 

among users of the mails as required under either 39 U.S.C. § 403(c) or 39 U.S.C.        

§ 3662(a), Complainant has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and 

this Complaint must be dismissed with prejudice.    

In addition to ensuring carrier safety by minimizing the risk of dog bites,41 the 

Postal Service has a second reasonable basis for withdrawing delivery service at 

Complainant’s residence.  Contrary to specific mailbox placement guidance the Postal 

Service relayed to Complainant on multiple occasions,42 Complainant admits that he 

“mounted a second mailbox on his side fence, which was approximately 10 feet 6 

inches from the sidewalk.”43  Pursuant to POM Section 623.1, the Postal Service “may 

withdraw service to a delivery point if a customer does not provide a suitable mail 

receptacle in the postal-approved location for the delivery of mail after being so notified 

by local officials by PS Form 1507, Request to Provide Mail Receptacle (city delivery 

routes); by PS Form 4056, Your Mailbox Needs Attention (rural and highway contract 

                                                           
38 Complaint at 6, 8. 
39 POM § 623.3.  See also Publication 174, How to Avoid Dog Bites: Dogs and Dog Repellent (Sept. 
2008). 
40 Complaint at 6-8. 
41   National Dog Bite Prevention Week was April 8-14 in 2018, available at:  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=v3Q2SV70mDM.  
42 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell; Complaint at 6-8, 11.  
43 Complaint at 10.   
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routes); or by written communication.”  (Emphasis added.)  Despite at least one site visit 

from a Postal Service official to assist Complainant with identifying appropriate mailbox 

placement so that mail service to his residence could resume, Complainant hung the 

mailbox along his driveway side of the fence a full “10 feet 6 inches [away] from the 

sidewalk” instead of placing the mailbox either at the curb or on the front of the fence 

facing the street, as advised.44  Again, Complainant has not alleged that the Postal 

Service treated any other similarly situated customers with dog issues more favorably 

than he was treated.  As the Postal Service has not unduly or unreasonably 

discriminated among users of the mails, as per 403(c) or 39 U.S.C. § 3662(a), 

Complainant has failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted and the 

Commission should dismiss the Complaint with prejudice.   

C. The Commission Lacks The Statutory Authority To Grant The 
Relief Complainant Is Seeking.  

Complainant has also requested relief which is outside the Commission’s 

statutory authority and not within the Commission’s means to grant under Title 39 of the 

Code of Federal Regulations or Chapter 5 of Title 39 of the U.S. Code.  Specifically, 

Complainant has requested the Commission grant: 

“A. That mail service be restored to Ehrlich’s premises by delivery to the 
mailbox at his front door; 
B. That Voisine be permanently removed from Ehrlich’s route; 
C. That Voisine, Bell, and Fletcher be disciplined and subject to 
suspension or termination; 
D. That damages, fees and costs be awarded as allowed; and  
E. For such other and further relief as the Commission may deem just and 
proper.” 45   
 

                                                           
44 Id.; Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell, Attachments 2 and 3. 
45 Complaint at 15.   
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In essence, Complainant is seeking relief pertaining to personnel matters and 

employment practices implicating bargaining and non-bargaining unit employees.  

Requests related to employment and labor practices, such as Complainant’s demands 

for the removal of a Postal Service employee from her designated route, and for 

disciplinary action to be taken against several Postal Service employees, are not forms 

of relief within the Commission’s authority to grant.46  Furthermore, 39 C.F.R. § 3030.50 

does not authorize the Commission, assuming it finds a complaint is justified here, to 

award monetary “damages, fees and costs” as Complainant has requested.  39 C.F.R. 

§ 3030.50 only authorizes “fines,” pursuant to 39 U.S.C. § 3662(c) and (d), which would 

be paid to the general fund of the Treasury Department of the United States47 for 

“deliberate non-compliance” by the Postal Service, and such remedy is considered 

“extraordinary relief” under the language of § 3030.50.  Here, as in Goodman, the 

Commission need not reach the validity of the Complainant’s request for relief through 

Commission sanctions because the Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice for 

lack of jurisdiction.48  The facts as alleged in both the Complaint and this Motion to 

Dismiss With Prejudice do not meet the requirements of § 3030.50 for such relief. 

Even assuming arguendo that the Commission finds deliberate non-compliance 

with applicable postal regulations on the part of the Postal Service, the Commission 

may only order a fine for each incidence of non-compliance, and only after taking into 

account the nature, circumstances, extent, and seriousness of the non-compliance.49  In 

                                                           
46 39 U.S.C. § 3662(c) and (d). 
47 39 U.S.C. §3662(d): “….All receipts from fines imposed under this subsection shall be deposited in the 
general fund of the Treasury of the United States.” 
48 Order No. 2585, Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, Docket No. C2016-2 (July 15, 2015), at 15 (citing 
Goodman Complaint at 9; Motion to Dismiss at 11-12). 
49 39 C.F.R. § 3030.50(b).   
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this case, the intentional and persistent non-compliance with postal regulations is on the 

part of Complainant, not the Postal Service.  Therefore, the Commission cannot award 

the relief Complainant is seeking. 

II. THE POSTAL SERVICE HAS ALREADY OFFERED ANY REMEDY THE 
COMMISSION MIGHT PROVIDE. 

Mootness exists “when the issues presented are no longer ‘live’ or the parties 

lack a legally cognizable interest in the outcome.”50  Mootness occurs when “events 

have so transpired that [a judicial] decision will neither presently affect the parties’ rights 

nor have a more than speculative chance of affecting them in the future.”51  Mootness 

can arise at any point during the course of litigation.52  When mootness occurs, the case 

should be dismissed with prejudice.  Here, Complainant asserts that the Postal Service 

has refused to deliver mail to his address, and is seeking to have mail delivery re-

established and steps taken to remove the current Letter Carrier from her designated 

route or terminate her from her employment with the Postal Service.  The Postal 

Service’s actions have effectively rendered this Complaint moot and it should 

accordingly be dismissed with prejudice.    

According to Postal Service regulations, door delivery or curbside delivery are 

provided at the discretion of the Postal Service so long as they can be efficiently, safely, 

and conveniently served by the carrier.53  Such regulations also place an obligation on 

Postal Service customers to accommodate the Postal Service’s chosen delivery mode, 

                                                           
50 Powell v. McCormack, 395 U.S. 486, 496 (1969); County of Los Angeles v. Davis, 440 U.S. 625, 631 
(1979); Cameron-Grant v. Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc., 347 F.3d 1240, 1245 (11th Cir. 2003). 
51 Ralls Corp. v. Committee on Foreign Inv. in U.S., 758 F.3d 296, 321 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citing Clarke v. 
United States, 915 F.2d 699, 701 (D.C.Cir.1990)). 
52 Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 459, n.10 (1974). 
53 Postal Operations Manual §§ 631.21 and 631.23.    
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and allow for General Delivery Service at the nearest postal facility where carrier 

delivery emanates, in the event of refusal by a customer to accommodate such delivery 

mode.54   

In this case, the record clearly indicates that Postal Service officials carefully 

evaluated Complainant’s circumstances when initially requesting the installation of a 

curbside mailbox, and subsequently modified this request with a further accommodation 

by allowing placement of a mailbox on a fence off the curb and closer to Complainant’s 

front door.55  However, Complainant placed his mailbox on the fence in a location where 

the letter carrier’s back would be to Complainant’s front door; this arrangement does 

nothing to avoid the original threat of a potential dog attack, which prompted the rightful 

and allowable discretionary application of a dog hold in the first place, and is in 

contravention of line of sight requirements for mailboxes.56  As a result, Postal Service 

officials asked Complainant to move his mailbox to a different location on the fence, and 

have assured Complainant that, if so moved, residential delivery to his mailbox would 

resume.   

Complainant has refused to comply with the Postal Service’s guidance and 

regulations, which caused his ongoing non-delivery complaints.  The Postal Service has 

taken the necessary actions to fully resolve this matter, but Complainant’s inaction is the 

reason why the Postal Service has continued to hold his mail at the Ballard Post Office.  

But for Complainant’s actions, or better put, inaction, this Complaint would be resolved 

                                                           
54 Id. at § 631.82.  
55 Exhibit A – Declaration of John Bell.  See also Complaint at 10. 
56 Id.; See also POM § 632.14; Mailbox Guidelines, available at:  
https://www.usps.com/manage/mailboxes.htm.  



15 
 

in accordance with the Postal Service’s policies.  As such, the Postal Service urges that 

the Commission dismiss this Complaint with prejudice for mootness. 

III. THE COMMISSION SHOULD REFER THE COMPLAINT TO THE RATE 
AND SERVICE INQUIRY PROCESS PURSUANT TO 39 C.F.R. § 3030.13. 

Alternatively, if the Commission does not dismiss the Complaint with prejudice, 

for the reasons set forth above, the Commission should refer the Complaint to the 

Postal Service for resolution through the rate and service inquiry process.  The 

Commission established regulations applicable to issues raised by Postal Service 

customers that are limited in scope and are addressed most effectively through informal 

means with the Postal Service.  Specifically, 39 C.F.R. § 3030.13(a) states: 

(a) This section applies to complaints that concern rate or service matters 
that are isolated incidents affecting few mail users provided that the 
complaint does not either: 

(1) Raise unfair competition issues; 

(2) Raise issues affecting a significant number of mail users; 

(3) Represent a pattern, practice, or systemic issue that 
affects a significant number of mail users (or is reasonably 
likely to be evidence that such a pattern has begun); or 

(4) Impact a substantial region of the nation. 

In this case, the allegations of the Complaint concern a single residential mail 

delivery point, the exact type of isolated incident affecting few mail users described in 

39 C.F.R. § 3030.13(a).  Moreover, the Complaint does not trigger any of the exceptions 

identified in 39 C.F.R. § 3030.13(a).57  Specifically, Complainant makes no claims of 

unfair competition under 39 U.S.C. § 404(a).  The Complaint is also limited in scope to 

                                                           
57 39 C.F.R. § 3030.13(a)(1)-(4). 
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delivery service provided to a single mail user at a single address.  As such, the factual 

situation alleged in the Complaint is unlikely to affect a significant number of mailers and 

does not impact a substantial region of the country.  Furthermore, the Complaint 

contains no allegations that the Postal Service’s actions represent a pattern, practice or 

systemic issue that may impact a significant number of mailers.   

Ultimately, if the Complaint is not dismissed with prejudice, in order to resolve 

this issue outside of the formal Complaint process, the Commission should refer 

Complainant to the rate and service inquiry process, under which the Postal Service 

will, within forty-five (45) days, report to the Commission regarding whether the issues 

raised by Complainant have been resolved. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Commission should dismiss the Complaint 

with prejudice for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted under 39 

U.S.C § 3662, or, in the alternative, refer the Complaint to the Postal Service as a rate 

or service inquiry pursuant to 39 C.F.R. § 3030.13. 
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ATTACHMENT 1 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL  
 

MEMORANDUM OF LETTER CARRIER VOISINE  
 

(REDACTED) 
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ATTACHMENT 2 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL  
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING DISCONTINUANCE OF MAIL DELIVERY 
 

(UNREDACTED) 
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ATTACHMENT 3 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL  
 

LETTER TO MR. EHRLICH DATED MAY 18, 2017 
 

(UNREDACTED) 
  





ATTACHMENT 4 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL 
 

PHOTOGRAPH OF MAILBOX PLACEMENT (REDACTED) 
 
 

  





ATTACHMENT 5 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL  
 

LETTER REGARDING DOG HAZARDS FROM OSHA DATED JULY 13, 2016 
 

(UNREDACTED) 
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ATTACHMENT 6 TO DECLARATION OF JOHN R BELL 
 

LETTER FROM JOHN R BELL TO OSHA EXPLAINING HISTORY OF 
 

DOG HAZARDS AT MR. EHRLICH’S RESIDENCE 
 

(UNREDACTED) 
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APPLICATION OF THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE 
FOR NON-PUBLIC TREATMENT OF MATERIALS 

 
 

In accordance with 39 C.F.R. § 3007.201, the Postal Service hereby applies for 

nonpublic treatment1 of certain materials filed in this docket:  

• Attachment 1 to Declaration of John R Bell Memorandum of Letter 
Carrier Voisine; and  

• Attachment 4 to Declaration of John R Bell Photograph of Mailbox 
Placement Memorandum of Letter Carrier Voisine.  

 
The Postal Service hereby furnishes the justification required for this application 

by each subsection of 39 C.F.R. § 3007.201(b), as enumerated below.  For the reasons 

discussed, the Postal Service asks that the Commission grant its application for non-

public treatment of the identified materials. The Postal Service further requests that the 

Commission order that the duration of such treatment of personally identifiable 

information be extended indefinitely. 

(1) The rationale for claiming that the materials are non-public, including the 

specific statutory basis for the claim, and a statement justifying application 

of the provision(s); 

The materials designated as non-public consist of personally identifiable 

information protected under Exemption 6 to the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”).2  

                                                
1 The Postal Service is seeking a waiver of the obligation to provide copies of the information, as it is not 
necessary to the Commission’s resolution of this matter to furnish the personally identifiable information in 
question.  Should the Commission have a need for such information, it may duly order its production 
under seal.   
2 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6), (7)(C) (2006), amended by OPEN Government Act of 2007, Pub. L. No. 110-175, 
121 Stat. 2524; see also Presidential Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies 
Concerning the Freedom of Information Act, 74 Fed. Reg. 4683 (Jan. 21, 2009) (emphasizing that the 
Freedom of Information Act reflects a "profound national commitment to ensuring an open Government" 
and directing agencies to "adopt a presumption in favor of disclosure"); accord Attorney General Holder's 
Memorandum for Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies Concerning the Freedom of Information 
Act (Mar. 19, 2009), available at http://www.usdoj.gov/ag/foia-memo-march2009.pdf ; FOIA Post, "OIP 
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Such information should not be publicly disclosed. Such information would be exempt 

from mandatory disclosure pursuant to 39 U.S.C. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6).  Exemption 6 

protects information about individuals in "personnel and medical files and similar files" 

when the disclosure of such information "would constitute a clearly unwarranted 

invasion of personal privacy.3  Because the portions of the materials which the Postal 

Service is applying to file only under seal fall within the scope of information not 

required to be publicly disclosed, the Postal Service asks the Commission to support its 

determination that these materials are exempt from public disclosure and grant its 

application for their non-public treatment.  

In this instance, the personally identifiable information is contained in 

documentary evidence provided in support of the Postal Service’s Motion to Dismiss 

with Prejudice the Complaint of Randall Ehrlich.   Specifically, Attachment B to the 

Declaration of John R. Bell (the “Declaration”), contains personally identifiable 

information4 (i.e., names, addresses, email addresses and phone numbers). 

(2) Identification, including name, phone number, and email address for any 

third-party who is known to have a proprietary interest in the materials, or if such 

an identification is sensitive, contact information for a Postal Service 

employee who shall provide notice to that third party; 

N/A as there is no proprietary information at issue here.  

(3) A description of the materials claimed to be non-public in a manner that, 

without revealing the materials at issue, would allow a person to thoroughly 

                                                
Guidance: President Obama's FOIA Memorandum and Attorney General Holder's FOIA Guidelines - 
Creating a New Era of Open Government" (posted 4/17/09). 
3 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6). 
4 39 U.S.C. § 410(c)(2); 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(6). 
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evaluate the basis for the claim that they are non-public; 

Attachment 1 to Declaration of John R Bell Memorandum of Letter Carrier 

Voisine; and Attachment 4 to Declaration of John R Bell Photograph of Mailbox 

Placement Memorandum of Letter Carrier Voisine contain personally identifiable 

information. Redacted copies of the aforementioned documents are being filed publicly 

in this docket. The Postal Service maintains that the redacted portions thereof 

containing names of the individuals and their respective addresses, phone numbers, 

email addresses and signatures should remain confidential. 

 (4) Particular identification of the nature and extent of commercial harm 

alleged and the likelihood of such harm; 

N/A as the information withheld is not commercial in nature. 

(5) At least one specific hypothetical, illustrative example of each alleged 

harm; 

N/A  

(6) The extent of protection from public disclosure deemed to be necessary; 

The Postal Service maintains that the redacted portions of the materials filed 

non-publicly should be withheld from the public and, as indicated in footnote 1 above, 

need not be filed with the Commission unless it deems such information necessary. 

(7) The length of time deemed necessary for the non-public materials to be 

protected from public disclosure with justification thereof; and 

The Commission’s regulations provide that non-public materials shall lose 

nonpublic status ten years after the date of filing with the Commission, unless the 

Commission or its authorized representative enters an order extending the duration of 
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that status. 39 C.F.R. § 3007.401. The Postal Service believes that the ten-year period 

of non-public treatment is not sufficient to protect the privacy considerations at issue 

here, and as such, requests that the length of protection be indefinite. 

(8) Any other factors or reasons relevant to support the application. 

N/A 




